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CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED
February 26, 2009

Lisa Hamlin

1755 Redgate Farms Court

Rockville, MD 20850

RE: Notice of Informal Complaint — Federal Communications Commission
09-C00093689-FC

Dear Ms. Hamlin:

This letter is to acknowledge that Fox Television Stations, Inc., on behalf of
WTTG, Washington, DC, received the enclosed complaint from the Federal
Communications Commission on February 25, 2009.

Sincerely,

/E\.‘Ou\m-&dm'&LQ,

Dianne Smith

Enclosure

cc. WTTG Public File

A NEWS CORPORATION COMPANY



United States Government
Federal Communications Commission
Consumer & Governmental Affairs Bureau
Disability Rights Office
445 12" Street, SW
Washington, D.C. 20554

OFFICIAL

NOTICE OF INFORMAL COMPLAINT
February 24, 2009

In Reply Refer To: 09-C00093689-FC
Comcast & WITG-TV (L. Hamlin)

THE COMPANY IDENTIFIED IN THE ATTACHED COMPLAINT IS REQUIRED TO RESPOND
TO THIS NOTICE OF INFORMAL COMPLAINT WITHIN 15 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS
NOTICE. Failure of any person to answer any lawful Commission inquiry is considered a
misdemeanor punishable by a fine under Section 409{m} of the Communications Act (Act), 47 U.S.C. §
409(m). Further, failure to comply with any order of the Commission can result in prosecution under
Section 401(b) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 401(b). Section 501 of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 501, and Section
503(b)(1)(B) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 503(b)(1)(B), provide for forfeiture penalties against any person
who willfully fails to follow the directives of the Act or of a Commission order. The Commission can
impose forfeiture penalties of up to $1.2 million for certain types of violations.

The attached complaint was filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 713 of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 613,
and Section 79.1 of the Commission’s Rules, 47 C.F.R. § 79.1. A letter acknowledging your company's
receipt of this Notice and of the enclosed complaint should be sent to each consumer Complainant as soon as
your company receives this Notice. Pursuant to Sections 713 and 4(i) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. §§ 613, 154(i),
and Section 79.1(g) of the Commission's Rules, 47 C.F.R. § 79.1(g), we are forwarding a copy of the
complaint so that your company may satisfy or answer the complaint based on a thorough review of all
relevant records and other information. Your company should respond specifically to all material allegations
raised in each complaint and summarize the actions taken by your company to satisfy the complaint.

Your response should include: (1) the Complainant's name, and (2) the Case number. For hand
deliveries, the Commission's contractor, Natek, Inc., will receive hand-delivered or messenger-delivered
paper filings for the Commission's Secretary at 236 Masgsachusetts Avenue, NE, Suite 110, Washington, D.C.
20002. The filing hours at this location are 8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday-Friday. All hand deliveries must
be held together with rubber bands or fasteners. Any envelopes must be disposed of before entering the
building. Commercial overnight mail (other than U.S. Postal Service Express Mail and Priority Mail} must be
sent to 9300 East Hampton Drive, Capitol Heights, MD 20743, U.S. Postal Service first-class mail, Express
Mail, and Priority Mail should be addressed to 445 12th Street, SW, Washington, D.C. 20554.

Due to heightened security measures undertaken in Washington, D.C., and at this agency, you should also
send an electronic copy of the response letter to Cheryl King(@fcc.gov. Companies are directed to send copies
of their responses to consumers at the same time their responses are forwarded to the Commission. Each
company required to respond to this Notice is directed to retain ali records until final Commission disposition
of the complaints. If you have any questions regarding this Notice, please call or email Francine Crawford
at (202) 418-2085 or Francine.crawford@fec.gov, and leave a detailed message specifying the calling
company name, the Case number, and the specific questions that you would like to have answered.

Attachment(s)
K:613/79.1
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Francine Crawford

From: Ikh554@aoi.com

Sent:  Thursday, February 19, 2009 3:42 PM

To: Francine Crawford

Subject: Fwd: Web Form Submission: General Inquiry/Other (KMM35489557V46524L0KM)

February 19, 2009
Dear Ms. Crawford,

Below is an emailed response from Comeast to my request for information regarding the programming that |
received with out captioning on February 12, 2009. Please note that Comcast addressed the response to George
Kosovich, who lives at the same address and who is named as the Comeast subscriber. This is the only
response I have had from Comcast regarding this matter.

Below that email is the original email I sent to Comcast regarding the lack of captioning for the airing of the

program "Seinfeld". You will note there that I included both Mr. Kosovich and me as the people with the
complaint.

I sent a separate email to WTTG. I also received a response from them and have forwarded that to you as well.
Thank you for your assistance with this matter.

Sincerely,

Lise Hamlin

1755 Redgate Farms Court

Rockville, MD 20850

LKHS54@aol.com
301-801-2907 (cell phone)

----- Original Message-----

From: Comcast ECARE-SilverSpring <ecare-SilverSpring@comcast.com>

To: George Kosovich <LKH554@aol.com>

Sent: Fri, 13 Feb 2009 12:55 pm

Subject: Re: Web Form Submission: General Inquiry/Other (KMM35489557V46524L0KM)

Rello George Kosowvich,

We are sorry to hear of the difficulties you have been experiencing with
the Close Captioned programming service and thank you for bringing this
matter to our attentien. I can only imagine the frustration and
inconvenience you have experienced.

I assure you that Comcast is dedicated to providing quality service and
we will diligently work to resolve all issues in a timely manner.

In an effort to ensure this matter is resolved I have forwarded your
information to our Service Department for their assistance in resolving
yOUr CORCEINns.

Again, we are sorry for this negative experience, but we are confident

your services can be resolved to your satisfaction. We will make every
effort to prevent a reoccurrence and tco restore your faith in us!

220/2009
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Sincerely,

Joanne

Comcast Customer Care

LA AR RS R AR S AR EE R ER ER S R BB R A S S A ]

The response contained in this message is intended for the addressee
only and may vary from other responses depending on geography,
promotional campalgns or other factors. If you are not the intended
recipient of this response, please delete this message. Any
unauthorized use or dissemination of the information contained in this
message 1s prohibited.

Original Message Follows:

The following information was submitted frem the Comcast Web site:
Name: George Kosovich

Problem: General Inquiry/Other

Address: 1755 Regate Farms Court

City: Rockville

State: MD

Zip: 20850

Home Phone: 3018012907

Email: LKH554Q@aol.com

Re: Web Form Submission: General Inquiry/OQther

Browser: IE

C3: Mozilla/4.0 (compatible; MSIE 6.0; Windows NT 5.1; SV1:; .NET CLR
1.1.4322; .NET CLR 2.0.50727)

Comments:

Re: Captioning problems

Last night, Thursday, February 12, 2009, I attempted to watch a re-run
of “"Seinfeld" on Fox 5 WITG - a show I know was captioned when
originally produced and aired. Last night, there were no captions for
the program that was aired last night.

I cannot watch programming that is not capticned. Please let me know
what you intend to do to ensure that all material that has captions is
passed through. In this case, I cannot know whether the broadcaster did
not send out the captions, Comcast failed to pass the captions through,
or there was a technical problem wtih the captions. I can tell you I had
no problem receiving captions from other stations or from Fox
programming later that evening.

I do worry that this will be a greater problem with the DTV transition
and hope to see Comcast do their best to ensure that captions axe passed
through in a way that are clear and understandable te consumers.

I have alerted Fox 5 and plan to inform the FCC about this captioning
problem.

Thank you for your attention to this issue. I look forward to hearing
from you.

Sincerely,

Lise Hamlin

George Kosovich

Rockville, MD

IPAddress:

207.59.87.194

A Good Credit Score is 700 or Above. See yours in just 2 easy steps!

2/20/2009
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Francine Crawford

From: |kh554@aol.com

Sent:  Thursday, February 19, 2009 3:37 PM
To: Francine Crawford

Subject: Fwd: Captioning of programming

February 19, 2009
Dear Ms. Crawford,

Below is an emailed response from WTTG to my request for information regarding the programming that

received with out captioning on February 12, 2009. This is the only response I have had from WTTG regarding
this matter.

Below that email is the original email I sent to WTTG regarding the lack of captioning for the airing of the
program "Seinfeld".

I sent a separate email to Comcast. I also received a response from them and will forward that to you as well.
Thank you for your assistance with this matter.
Sincerely,

Lise Hamlin

1755 Redgate Farms Court
Rockville, MD 20850
LKH554@aol.com
301-801-2907 (cell phone)

————— Original Message--—-

From: engineering@wttg.com

To: Lise Hamlin <LKH554@aol.com>
Sent: Fri, 13 Feb 2009 3:26 pm

Subject: RE: Captioning of programming

I'm not sure why the show had no captions but this will be investigated at a
very high priority. We want all analog and digital shows to have the proper
captions and we monitor all shows for captioning, and we were not aware of this
problem. Thank you for the e-mail and as I said we will make sure all of our
shows captions pass through to our viewers.

————— Original Message--—-——-

From: "Lise Hamlin" <LKHS554@aol.com>
Sent: Friday, February 13, 2009 1ll:43am
To: Engineering@wbtg.com

Subject: Captioning of programming

Name: Lise Hamlin

Address 1: 1755 Redgate Farms Court
Address 2:

City: Rockville

State: MD

Zip Code: 20850

Phone Number:

Email: LKH5S548aocl.com

2/20/2009




Topic: Reception Problems

Subject: Captioning of programming

Comments:

Last night, Thursday, February 12, 2009, I attempted to watch a re-run of
"Seinfeld"” from 7:30 pm to 8:30 pm ~ a show I know was captioned when originally
produced and aired. Last night, there were no captions for the program that was
aired last night.

I cannot watch programming that is not captioned. Please let me know what you
intend to do to ensure that all material that should be broadcast captioned, is
in fact sent out with captions that can be decoded by yvou customers. I worry
that this will be a greater problem with the DTV transition.

I am also notifying both Comcast, who provides my television service, and the
FCC, but thought you should also be aware of this captioning problem.

Thank you for your attention to this isswe. I look forward to hearing from you.
Sincerely,
Lise Hamlin

Rockville, MD
I certify I am over the age of 13: agreed

Page 2 of 2

A Good Credit Score is 700 or Above. See yours in just 2 easy stepst

203009



CCMS Admin
L Fedoest

- e v '
ﬂ Commission

Admin 2000

- Communications

HOME

Basic Search

« Back to Complaints

User Form

Admin 0033.@:5 ..
Serve Process

File Attachments
_.mnm..m

Show All

Sub Complaints{0)

Print Form

http://witbwww06.fec.gov/cems/2000/manageForm.action?complaint key=09-C00093689-1 & form_type=2000C

Page 1 of 3

FOS FCCinTrRs

francine.crawford [ADMIN] Logout W»

SERVE SEARCH NEW COMPLAINT ASSIGN ADMIN HELP

Advanced Search

Form 2000C: 09-C00093689-1

USER FORM
&4 ConsumerParty History m Consumer History 4 Form History m Edit Form
User Complaint Number; 09-C00093689 User Complaint Key: 08-C00093689-1

Complaint Source; Web Added User: Consumer

CONSUMER’S INFORMATION

First Name: Lise Last Name: Hamlin

Company Name:
{Complete only if you are filing this comptaint on behalf of 2 company or an organization.)

Street Address or Post Office Box Number: 1755 Redgate Farms Court
City: Rockville State: MD

Telephone Number(Residential or Business): (301) 801 -2907 Ext:
E-rmail Address: LKHS54@aol.com

Zip Code: 20850

Are you filing information on behalf of another party, such as client, parent, spouse or roommate? No
If yes, complete items a through h.

Your relationship with the party:

The party’s first name:

The party’s last name:

party_daytime_phpne () - Ext

The party’s street address or post office box number:
City: State: Zip Code:

E-mail Address:

Fax Number: { } -

2/20/2009



CCMS Admin

defendant:

® Letter [ Facsimile (fax} L Telephone Voice

{1 TRS (designate form of TRS and appropriate contact information)

7711y ®internet E-mail |- ASCll Text I Audio-Cassette Recording [ Braille

Form 2000C:

Page 2 of 3

IMPORTANT: Please indicate the preferred format or method of response to the complaint by the Commission and

1. Check the appropriate box for your type of complaint:

[ Telecommunications Relay Service (TRS) (i.e., TTY-based, IP Relay, CapTel, IP CapTel, Speech-to-Speech, Video
Relay Service (VRS))

T Accessibility of emergency information on television

# Closed Captioning (absence, quality or pass through High Definition (HD}) programs)
NOTE: If your complaint is about closed captioning only, you must first contact the station or video programming

distributor. For additional information, see hitp:/iwww.fcc.govicgbfconsumerfacts/closedeaption.html
™! Wireless telephone equipment or service {includes hearing aid compatibility and other accessibility issues)

{75 wire line telephone equipment or service (includes hearing aid compatibility and other accessibility issues)

Provide the name, address and telephone number (if known) of the company(s) involved in your complaint:
Name: Comcast, Fox 5 WTTG

City: Washington State: DC Zip Code:

Telephone number: { ) -

If your complaint is about accessibility of telecommunications services or equipment, provide the make and model number of
the equipment or device that this complaint is about:

If your complaint is about closed captioning or emergency information on television,

provide the date (mm/dd/yyyy) 02/12/2007 Time: 07:30 PM and any details of when the event or action you are complaining
about occurred: There were no captions at all when the re-run of “Seinfeld" was aired last night, Feb 12, 2009, a
program ! know has been captioned in the past.

If your complaint is about access to emergency information on television, provide the following information:
a. Television station call sign {(e.g., "WZUE-TV"}:.

b, Station channel (e.g., "13"):
c. Station location; City: State:

d. Date(s) and time(s) of emergency: Time:
Detailed description of the emergency (i.e., flood, hurricane, tornado, etc,, as well as the areas in which the emergency

httn-/wthuraw6 fee sovicems/2000/manageForm.action?complaint kev=09-C00093689-1&form type=2000C 2/20/2009
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FILE COPY

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP

1440 NEW YORK AVENUE, NW.
FIRM/AFFILIATE OFFICES

WASHINGTON, D.C, 20005-2111 BOSTON
CHICAGO

) ~ HOUSTON
TEL: (2021 371-7000 7 LOS ANGELES

OIRECT DIAL ‘ FAX: (202} 393.5760 NEWARK

(202) 37 1-7200 NEW YCRK
PALO ALTO

DARECT FAX -
(202) 66 |-8233 . - . SAN FRANCISCO
EMAIL ADDRESS - . - WILMINGTON

JQUALE@SKADDEN.COM . : . BEIJING
. . - BRUSSELS

FRANKFURT
HONG KONG

November 19, 2004 N . MoSCOW

PARIS
SINGAPORE
SYDNEY
TOKYO
TORONTC

Via Hand Delivery and Electronic Mail RECE!VED - FCC

" Federal Communications Commission "
. Enforcement Bureau : o 0V 192004
Investigations and Hearings Division Federal Communicat
445 12th Street, S.W. . : Burea, oy mssion
Washington, D.C. 20554

ATTN: David Brown, Esq. (Room 4C-330)

RE: Station WTTG(TV), Washington, D.C.
File No. EB-04-1H-0474

Dear Mr. Brown:

' - On behalf of Fox Television Stations, Inc., licensee of WTTG(TV),
Washington, D.C. ("WTTG(TV)"), enclosed herewith please find WTTG(TV)'s response
to the letter to the licensee, dated October 20, 2004, from William H. Davenport, Chief,
Investigations and Hearings Division, Enforcement Bureau, with respect to the above-

~ referenced matter.

_ Should you have any questions concerning this submission, please contact
the undersigned. . ' ‘

Resp i ted,

-

John C. Quale
Counsel to WITG(TV)

Enclosures



RESPONSE OF WITG(TV), WASHINGTON, D.C.
TO FCC LETTER OF INQUIRY'

1. With regard to the matcria] described in the Complaint, state whether the
‘Licensee broadcast the film "The Slums of Beverly Hills" over Station
- WTTG(TV) on the respective date and time for the segment indicated in the
. Complaint and/or on that or any other date between 6:00 a.m. apd 10:00

p-m.

ANSWER:  Subject to its response to Inquiry 2 below, WTTG(TV),
Washington, D.C. ("WTTG(TV)").broadcast the film "Slums of Beverly Hllls" on
Sunday, Aungust 22, 2004 from 3:30 p 1m. to 5:30 p.m.

2. With regard to each broadeast referred to in the response to Inquiry 1 above,
if the programming deseribed in the Complaint does not accurately reflect
the material broadcast over Station WTTG{TV), describe any inaccuracies.

ANSWER: The descn'pﬁon of the programming contained in the Complaint
attached to the LOI does not accurately reflect the material aired by WTTG(TV).
Provided below is a corrected copy of the Complaint. Inaccuracies are bracketed

and noted in 1ta.hc1zed text.

Sunday at 4:30' in the afternoon I turned on my television and was
appalled at what I viewed on Fox 5!! The Slums of Beverly Hills was
being broadcast, August 22, 2004.

The-scene was two young women and a bed. {One womarn was leaning on
the bed and the other was standing while unpacking a suitcase.) One
young women threw a vibirator across a bed at the other young woman and
said, "Here, you can use anything Thave!" [The woman actually said "You
can use it. What's mine is yours.”] The other young woman caught the
vibrator and turned it on. Then one of their father's knocked on the door.
[The father did not knock prior to entering the room.] The one young
woman answered it with the vibrator vibrating in her hand. [Again, the
father simply entered the room unannounced.] The other young woman
said, "Twist the head! Twist the head!" [She said, "Turn it, turn it, the
head, turn the head."] Later as ] returned to the broadcast to relate to you
what was broadcast, the scene was a bathroom scene. The one young

_S;@ Letter, Dated October 20, 2004, to Ms. Molly Pauker, Vice-President, Fox
Television Stations, Inc., from William H. Davenport, Chief, Investigations and
Hearings Division, Enforcement Bureau (the "LOI").

The vignette in question aired at approximately 4:15 p.m.



woman found hér friend's vibrator in the bathroom and decided to use it.

- [There is no dialogue or other indication that the woman "decided” to use
the vibrator, and there is no depiction of the woman "using" the vibrator.)
You see her facial expression as she inserts the vibrator. [The scene does

. not depict the woman inserting or using the vibrator in any way. It shows.
only her face.] : ' '

_ Furthermore, contrary to the LOI, the broadcast was not actionably indecent. The
evaluation of indecency involves two determinations: - o

First, . ... the material must describe or depict sexual or excretory

. organs or activities. . . . Second, the broadcast must be patently.
offensive as measured by contemporary community standards for
the broadcast medium.? . : '

In determining whether material is patently offensive, the FCC has set forth three -
principal factors for evaluation: (1) the explicitness or graphic nature of the
description or depiction of sexual or excretory organs or activities; (2) whether the
material dwells on or repeats at length the descriptions or depictions; and (3)
whether the material appears to pander or is used to titillate, or whether the

" material appears to have been presented for its shock value.? f

The August 22 broadcast of Stums of Beverly Hills does not fall within the subject -
maiter scope of the Commission's indecency definition because it does not depict
‘or describe sexual or excretory organs or activities. As indicated above, the
vignettes consist of nothing more than two women handling a device (identified in
the dialogue as a vibrator) that is making a buzzing sound. The scenes contain no
depiction or description of sexual organs or activities. Accordingly, the threshold
requirement for a finding of indecency cannot be satisfied and there is no basis for
Commission action. ’ :

Assuming that the Commission were to conclude, and it should not, that the
episode did contain a description or depiction of sexual or excretory activity, none
of the three factors weighs in favor of a finding of patent offensiveness. As to the
~ first factor (explicitness or graphic nature), the scenes contain nothing more than
two women handling the device, which cannot be considered explicit or graphic

in nature. As to the second factor (whether the material dwells on or repeats at
length depictions or descriptions), the activities with the device are fleeting in the
two vignettes which account for only 4 minutes of the two-hour program. Finally,

In Re Industry Guidance on thé Commission's Case Law Interpreting 18 U.S.C. § -
1464 and Enforcement Policies Regarding Broadcast Indecency, 16 FCC Red
7999, 8002 (2001) ("Indecency Policy Statement") (emphasis in original) (citation
omitted). C A '

See Indecency Policy Statement, at 8003.

2



the episode does not pander and the material is not used to titillate or presented
for "shock value." All of the scenes are an integral part of the storyline and the .

participants' character development.

The story is told from the point of view of Vivian Abramowitz, who lives a-
nomadic existence in the outskirts of Beverly Hills with her single,
divorced father (Murray) and her two young brothers. As Murray tries to
keep the family in the Beverly Hills school district, the family moves into a -
. one-bedroom apartment in a shabby complex. When Rita, the daughter of
Murray's brother, moves into the apartment, she fills the role of female
confidant to Vivian as they transition into adulthood. The referenced
scenes help add levity to an otherwise difficult maturation process for
Vivian. Moreover, as the Commission has emphasized, the full context in
which the material appeared is critically important. As noted above, the
film chronicles the playful interaction between the main characters as they
deal with the admitted]y difficult issues facing a young woman as she

matures.

The First Amendment is a critical constitutional limitation that demands that the
Commission "proceed cautiously and with appropriate resiraint.” Indecency
determinations are difficult as demonstrated by the Commission's struggles in
recent cases to define what is in fact indecent. Ultimately, however, the outcome
of this case is clear: Commission precedent and the Constitution require that the
Commission deny the complaint filed against Station WTTG(TV) and take no
further action against the licensee. .

1d.

In Re KBOO Foundation: Licensee of Noncommercial Educational Station
KBOO-FM, Portland, OR, 18 FCC Red 2472, para. 5 (2003) ("KBOO") (citing
United States v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 813-15 (2000);
Action for Children's Television, 852 F.2d 1332, 1344«(D.C. Cir. 1988)).

See, e.0., KBOO, 18 FCC Red at 2472 (rescinding a Notice of Apparent Liability
'for the willfully broadcast indecent language, including the phrase "six foot blow
job machine"); In Re Citadel Broadeasting Co.; Licensee of Station KKMG(FM),
Pueblo. Colorado, 17 FCC Red 483 (2002) (rescinding a Notice of Apparent | .

‘Liability for the willfully broadcast indecent language, including the phrase "It's
- funny cause at the rate I'm goin'; When I'm 30 11 be the only person in the

nursing home flirting; Pinching nurses asses when I'm BLEEP or jerkin'; Said I'm

jerkin' but this whole bag of Viagra isn't workin™).

-
2



3. Wlﬂl regard to each broadcast referred to in the response to Inquiry 1 above,
prowde any and all compact discs, videotapes, transcripts or other
Documents reproducing or discussing the material reflected in the.
Complaint, plus the fifteen (15) minutes of material broadcast immediately
before and after the material referred to in the Complaint. Provide any and
all such recording on video compact disc (CD-R) and a written trapscript of -

~ the material contained in each recording, :

ANSWER: See the attached Declaration of Molly Pauker, Vice Pre51dent of
Fox Television Stations, Inc., licensee of WTTG(TV), including Attachment A
thereto (FCC-X01-004 is a compact disc (in CD R format); which contains video

of the requested broadcast).

4. Provide copies of all Documents that provide the basis for or othe’rwﬁé
support the responses to Inquirjes.1-3, above.

ANSWER: - See.the attached Declaration of Molly Pauker, Vice President of*
Fox Television Stations, Inc licensee of WITG(TV), mcludmg Attachment A

thereto

Dated: November 19, 2004



DECLARATION
Under penaity of perjury, Molly Pauker»hcreby statcs as follows:

1. I am Vice President of Fox Telewsmn Stat:onq Inc., licensec of
WTTG(TV).

2. I have read the foregoing Response of WTTG(TV), Washingion, D.C,, to
FCC Letter of Inquiry, dated November 19, 2004, which is responsive to
the letter, dated October 20, 2004, o Fox Television Stations, Inc. from
William H. Davenport, Chief, Investigations and Hearings Division,

~ Enforcement Bureau (the "Letter of Inquiry”).

3. I have pérsonal knowledge of the facts contained therein and declare that
such facts are true and correct. [n addition, I declare that WTTG(T V) has
no documents in its possession, custody or control responsive to the Letter °
of Inquiry, other than the documents attached hereto as Exhibit A (i.e., 3
responsive documents, 2 compact disc containing a copy of the requested
~‘material that was broadeast, and the associated transcript).

;WMW Rudcon
Molly Pauket”

Vice President, Fox Television Stations, Inc.,
Licensee of WTTG(TV)

November 19, 2004,
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F "‘REMINDER ok

Ta: Program Direetorf Satellite Coordinator
From:- Johna Rendahl - Twentieth Television
CENTURY 19 PRESENTS* '

“SLUMS OF BEVERLY HILLS”

Suggested Parental Guideline Rating: TV-14-L,S.D
“Parents strongly cautioned, many people would find this program
"unsuitable for children under 14 years of age. Contains intense sexual
sitnations, strong coarse language, and intensely suggestive dialogue.”
1998 Version — Starring Alan Arkin .
2 Hour Barter Movie / Windaw 08!0 1/04 THROUGH 08/31/04

This CENTURY 19 PRESENTS barter title will be distributed via satellite only!! This title is not to
be telecast before 08/01/04 or your contractnal start date without written consent of the 20th
TELEVISION Contracts Department. Please check your CENTURY 19 PRESENT S contract for
your exact start date.
. "THIS FEATURE IS AVAILABLE BY SATELLITE ONLY I}
 *SEOULD YOU REQUIRE TAPE THERE WILL BE A $100.00 PER HOUR CHARGE*

Please Note: This title js satellite fed in STEREO only!

SATELLITE INFORMATION:
Hatellite Trovble # (310) 369-6116

- “SLUMS OF BEVERLY HILLS”

Feed #1: Monday 7/26/04 Galaxy IV R / Transponder 18 C
Test: 4:75AM-4:30AM ET
Program: 4:30AM-6:45AM ET
Audio; 6.2 Sterev Left & 6.8 Stereo Right

Feed #2: Tuesday 7/27/04 Galaxy IV R / Transponder 18 C
Test: 3:45PM-4:00PM ET
Program 4:00PM-6:15PM ET
Audio: 6.2 Stereo Left & 6.8 Stereo Right

There will be a 10 minute ree} change between reels One and Two
REELL I =58:53 REEL 2 =59:37
If you have any questions please call Johna Rendahl at 310-664-6894.
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July 19, 2004

STATION CALL LETTERS

ADDRESS ' .
"ATTENTION; PROGRAM.DIRECTOR .

‘Re: 'GENTURY 19 - SLUMS OF BEVERLY HILLS - AUGUST TITLE
‘ RATINGS INFORMATION ' _

Dear Program Director:

As you know, the motion picture entitled SLUMS OF BEVERLY HILLS is écheduléd ta telecast
from August 1, 2004 - August 31, 2004, as part of Twentleth Television's Century 19 package,

In order to assist you In rating'this motion picture we suggest arating of. TV-14-L,8,D

This rating is equivalent to the fallowing: "Parents strangly cautioned, many pelople would find -
this program unsuitable for children under 14 years of age. Contains intense sexua) situations,
_strong coarse language, intensely suggestive dialogue.” ' :

Please note that this rating will be affixed to the motion picture when it is sent out via sateliite,
This is a suggested rating only. It is the obligation of your station to review the motion picture
and rafe it as you feel Is appropriate for the viewers in your DMA. Accordingly, if you deem it
necessary to use an alternative rating please feel free to roll over the rating as it appears.

We hope that you will find this information usefi. a

‘Bincerely,

" Lori Bernstein-Baker
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SLUMS OF BEVERLY RILLS - PARTIAL TRANSCRIPT

ELLIOT: You okay?

VIV: Don't tell anybody about this, ckay? It's just a building thing. I don't
want it to get around. : . ’

(scene change)

VIV: Hello? Hello? Ben? Ben, is that you in there? {knocks on door) What:are

you doing?

{opens doorf

RITA:‘Oh my god!

VIV:'Ybu'scared me.

RITg;_You{re_all grown up. Come here, glve me a big hug.
'VIV: I thought you were going to be'Bén.

RITA: Oh, Viv! I haven't seen anything like you in a long time. 6h, it's so
good to see you. Oh, you look good, Viv! You haven't said how I look.

Vviv: Uh, you - you lookrgood.
RITA: OH, I'm tired, Viv, and I'm fat! (laughs)

VIV: Do yow want a towel?

RITA: Stuff you like a pig in rehab. Well, if you want to live in California you
gotta get rid-of that east coast fat, right? : .

VEV:.You'rg moving?

Rita: Your father didn't tell you? I'm staying here.
VIV: With us? Permaunent? |

RITA: You don't want me?

ViV: No. No, I mean yes; I -

'RIfA: Let me see your face. |

VIV: What's wrong with it?

RITA: C'mere. .

VIV: what is thakt?

REITA: Mm, there.

VIV: It stings.

RITA: For your'muétache. Depilatory-



vIV: I have a mustache?

RITA: Just a ﬁaint one. So do I. That'll get rid of it. Jewish girl's secret
weapon . .

VIV: It's a Jewish Thing.

RITA: Mm, not only. A lot of beautiful women have them. So (spoken ih
gibberish with subtitle) can you still speak our secret language?

vIV: Gibberish, yeah..

-RiTA: So tell me something.

VIV:.Like what?. |

RITA: I don't know. You're ail grown up, I'm sure.ydu‘ve got somethihg,
:VIV: Okay. (in gibberish) Today I let a guy go ﬁp_my shirt. .

RITA: (In gibberish) Your boyfriend?! .

¥IV: No, no,  just a guy. .

RITA: Oh, well whoever he is, he's pretty lucky.

VIV: Why? |

RITA: Vivian, lock at you. If there's ome, thing your mother ever gave you, it's
great ({(bleeped). ‘ :

VIV: You think s07

RITA{ Bure. So, (in‘gibberiéh) I'm going to nursing school:

VIV: What?

RITA: Mm, hm.

VvIV: You're going to be a nurse?

RITA: You don't believe me?

viv: I do, it's just -

RITA: I'll be like.a.medical assistant. Pulsés, temperatures, appointment%,
stuff like that. I have the brochure. It’'s really all over this place. I put

it in here so I wouldn't.lose it. I hate when that happems. I'm trying to get
organized. Oooh, look, from the airplane. Let's celebrate, let's make some

cocktails.

viv: I can't, can you? -- I mean I thought you're not supposed to anymore.
RITA: We can have a few celebratory cocktails, we're grownups.

vIV: What's there to celebrate about?
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RITA: My ‘secret. (gibberish) I'm in love.
MURRAY: Hi, kiddo.

RITA: Uncle Murréy.

MURRAY: What do you think, Viv?

VIV: How come nohody ever tells me anything?
MURRAY: What's that on your face? '

RITA: It's just 2 little mustache.

MURRAY: I didn't know you have a mustache. See that?! One of the benefits of
having another female in the Liouse. ' '

VIV: Can I take it off now?
RITA: ({(gibberish) Five minutes.

MURRAY: Yeah, look'at this, look at this corned peef. 1Isn't that the most
beautiful thing you ever saw in your life. Let's celebrate. Who wants a

Dagwood?

RITA: .I do.

VIV: Where is-she going to stay?
MURRAY: We're moving. Mustard?
RITA: .&es.

VIV: Again? We just got here.

MURRAY: The luxuxry apartments across the street. This place is temporary. My

brother is going to help us out.
VIV: uUncle Mickie's helping.

MURRAY: Yeah, I mean, you're going to have to stay in the same room. But you
will be like sisters. .

BEN: ‘I parked the cér across the street, Dad.
(Door slams) ‘
BEN: What's that on your face?
VIV: Shut up.
MURRAY: Ben, leave her alone. It'é for her mustache.

VIV: Dad!

BEN: o©h, my God, .our sister is a Hermaphrodite.

TV T
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Vviv: I am not.

RICKY: what's a Hermaphroditeé
| (laughéer) '

MURRAY: Ricky, want a sandwich?

vIV: A lot of famous women use this.stuff. It's called -- what's it called?
RITA: Depilatory. .
-(Music piayﬁﬁg) (6cene change)

ELLIOT: Who's the lady? Is that your éld man’s girlfriénd?.
VIV: My cousin. ‘
'BLLIOT: She's a fox. (Musiclplayihg).

VIV:- Check it out.

ELLIOT: Nide foyer, you're:movinf up, Abromowitz.

{music playing)

ELLIOT: Ladies first. Wow, you got tunes in here and everything. ©Oh, someone's
getting a free show. ‘ .

VIV: Security.

ELLICT: Well, I call it an invasien of privacy, damn. Wake up fag, I'm_talkiﬁg'
to you. Live from Spawn Ranch. o . '

VIV: What are you doing? I've got to live here, will you stop it.

ELLIOT: So uptight. Have some fun, man. What's up with the mocd swing? Are
you a virgin ox something? ‘

VIv: I told you, you're my neighbor, you're not my type. It was a building
thing. . . : u

ELLIOT: So?

VIV:  You live down the street, we're geing to see each other. every day. You
know how it gets after you do it. :

ELLIOT: No, how does it get?

viv: It gets weixd.

ELLIOT: So you'ré -- 50 you're not a virgin?
RICKY: Viv? Feel it. It's plush.

BEN: éheck out the Formica.

T, VAT nne



VIV: Wow, it‘s_furnished.

. ELLIOT: Big step up frowm Casabello.
VvIV: Where's Rita?

MUREAY: &She's in the pool.

vIV: There;s a pool?

MURRAY Yes:.

RICKY: Are- we rich now?

BEN: It'é Uncle Mickie.

ﬁICKY: Uncle Mickie is a millionaire.

BEN: He's well off, 'but he's not like Johnny Carscn. Carson, he's a

‘"millionaire.

MURRAY: Hey, hey, ‘'what about your olid man? pon't- I get any credit around here?
VIV: Nice place, Dad.

1

RICKY: Finally we're rich. Miss Ball, there should be mno treats this year.

{laughter)
VIV: This makes us middle class, right, Ben? Average? In thg middle?
ELLIOT: I would call it bourgeois.
BEK: Bourgeois, Ffench? That's an exéelleﬁt word Afonson.
vyIV: 1Is this it, are we bourgeois néw?

- BEN: Well, Dad's white collar, you're a salesman. I think that makes us middle
‘class, sort of. Now Uncle Mickie owns his own business, you know, he .owns

property, a house.  We rent.

MURRAY: What do you think your mother's living in, a teepee? That's my house
she's got there. I bought i+ when I had the business.

VvIV: That's right, Dad had his own place.
MURRAY: Damn-straight, I was a big shot, toc (simultanecus speaking) . -

CHORUS: Did'I ever tell you the time the time that Charlie the Cock --

MURRAY: Okay, wise guy.
yIV: rhat guy could cock a steak.

BEN: I think you might have wmentioned it once, Dad.
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“ MURRAY: This thick. That's how we served them. ' Add season and rare, and
bloody. : ' ' .

" (scene change}
' MURRAY: Charlie, you're walking funny, you're limping, what's wreong?
CHARLIE: Hey! -Inventory night.

MURRAY: I want you to kncw the steak is terrific. Sit down, let me buy you-a
drink. ' - .

CHARLIE: No,  thanke anyway. I'm beat.
MURRAY: You're sweatin', Charlie, what's wrong?
CHARLIE: A leng night, Murray. In the hot kitchen.

MURRAY: It's magic what you.do with a steak, magic. Come on, sit'wiﬁh me, let
me buy you one drink. : . . )

CHARLIE: Just one, Murray. My wife andikids.
MURRAY: Atta boy. How long you been working for me, Charlie?

CHARLIE: TI'm tired Murray, I dom't want to get into all this {bleeped) .

MURRAY: Come.on, I'm trying. to make a toast.
CHARLIE: Eight years. I been working for you for eight years.

MURRAY: Eight years. To our friendship, Charlie. (toascting) Now you make a
toast. . .

CHARLIE: I'm too tired to be philosophical.

MURRAY: Come on come on, you gotta. say something. (stabs Charlie in the thigh
with a fork) How come you're not screaming, Charlie? Didn't that hurt? You.
got a fork sticking out of your thigh, isn't that painful? .

CHARLIE: I -- I --1 didntt --

MURRAY: Look at. that, it's bleeding. Hwmm, seasoned, tastes liké steak. BStand
up. :

CHARLIE: Please.

MURRAY: Stand up, Charlie, I want to help you. I want to take a look at the
wound. Is this your inventory you piece eof {bleep) thief? :

CHARLIE: It's been tight at home, Murray. My kids~--

MURRAY: Tell your kids that the food in their stomach is from my (bleeped)
restaurant. Let them know who the real father is. I'm their father. I'm their
father. I'm their father. : : .

{scene change)
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BEN: - Do youlwant a lightz

VIQ:. Cigarette (inaudible) in your hand.
ELLIOT: Thét's quite a tale; gquite é Ealé.
(Commercial interruption) 16.10.56 to 16.15.08.
MALE ON TV: lMoney ain*t got no oder-

MALE ON.TV: Pusher I'm iooking for, wemt to high school on the east side. I
want the name of that pusher. .

"MALE ON TV: No dice.
{scene change)
VIV: Can I have it?
RITA: Uh, sure. Why?
viv: To iﬁpress my friends.
RITA: Okay.
VIV: You like Carol Kingé
RITA: Uh, she's Okay. .
yIv: I've got Tapesﬁry, the album. ‘What‘s that?
RITA:-M§ boyfriend. A vibrator. Haven'ﬁ you ever seen one Of these before?
VIV: Yeah, sure.

RITA: You can use it. What's mine is yours. The batteries still work. Here.

_VIV: Ew.

RITA: éiay with it a little
VIV: Ew. |
(laﬁghter between theﬁ, music.playing, girls dancing, Uncle Murray walks in}

RITA: Turn it, turn it. . The head. Turn the head {laughter). The head. Turn the
head. The head (laughter). : : ] )

{scene change)

MURRAY: ©Okay, try and act normal, she is a lady. sold her a ecar, I got her é
great deal omn. She is dying to meet you guys. K

RICKY: Why does she want to meet us? Man.
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MURRAY: Well, I-gotta be with people my own age once in a while. .She invited
us over for dinmer. .She's a great cock. Do I look ‘ckay? BAm I all right?

VIV: You look.good,.Daddy.
MURRAY: Okay, let's go. Try and act decent, like people.

DORIS: So I understand, you were vacationing, up north; the Bay area. I love
it up there. Where did you stay? - .

RITA: finewood.

DORIS: I don't know that hotel.

RITA: 1It's not a hotel, it's a clinic.

viv: It's more iike a spa? You know, 1ike-élweight 1oss_c1ini§ (l;gghter};-
- MURRRY i Cover.?our'mouth. It's new, very exclusive. - ‘

DORIS: Really? But, you've so thin. It's hard to believe that you were.ever
overweight.

vIV: Oh, you should have seen hér befbre;

MURRAY: Viv, lock hoﬁ beautiful Doris keeps her nails.
VIV: Oh'. ‘

-BEN: They're éainted'talons.

-RICKY: Wha;,are talons?

viv: Oh, they're really nice.

DORIS: Oh, thank you, it's hard to do certain things, but I can still smoke a
cigarette. ‘ ' :

MﬁRRAY: Well, it'é amazing what you can do to a chicken.

DORIS: you didn't spill on the seat cover, di@ you?

MURRAY: Uh-oh.

Vviv: Oh, no. Admiring the fabric, it's so;beautiful. I can't find my napkin.

DORIS: I did all the covers myself, needlepoint. ' I could teach you some
stitches. - '

viv: (Under table,‘gibberishf Do you have any tampons.
"RITA: (gibberish) No. I don‘t need them.
DORIS: Well, you know, I got a great price

VIV: Here it is.
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MURRAY: Welcome back.
- RICKY: Doris, are you good at vocabﬁlary words?
DORIS: I think so, Ricky. '
_ﬁICKf: What ‘s a Hermaphrodite?
MURRAY: What ﬁhe hell kind of thing is that.té Safé!
RICKY: Tt's a word. Ben said 'it. You did. .
MURRAY : ‘ﬁeﬂ, get Doris some water.
DORIS: 1It's all right, I'm.fine, it just went down the wrong pipe, -i&-all.
MURRAY: Are you suie?‘ :
ﬁéR;S: Yea. Bathtoqm is down the hall, Dear.
VIV: Excuse me. -
MURRAY : I}ﬁ sgill hungry.
vIV (from the bathroom) : poris?
DORIS: Mur;ay,_why don't you go.ahead_and gerve the pie.
MURRAY : 211 righty:
BEN: ?emalelprohlems.
MURRAY: Shut up and eat some pie
(lauéhtef). o
DORIS: You have to be prepared evéry month;
"VIV: I thought it was over.

pORIS: The last day is sometimes the heaviest. Baha! Here you go. I kept some
around for this very occasion. Bingo!! Look what else I found.

VIV: What's that?
DORIS: A menstrual belt.

VIV: For what?

DORIS: To hold it on, dear. There's a science to it. B8See these two little
hooks? You can take the box with you.

&

{scene change)
TV: Tt's time for iet‘'s make a dealé..

DORIS: Mur, stop. You're staring.
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MURRAY: Pretty lady like you should be used to that by now. It's béen_a long
time since I've thought ~about being with a wowan.

DORIS: At my age, Murray, with two husbands dead and burled I'm not looking . for
a lover. I'm looking for a companion. .

MURRAY: Does that mean you don't want sex anymore?
DORIS: (écreams) | |

MURRAY:'What happened?

DORIS: ﬁlood!l Blood on ﬁy needlepoint! Blood!
_(scéne-change) | .

BEN: Quite a succesé. {laughter)

fséene change)

RITA: We meet up at pinewood, same grdup. Both Gemini's. Gbod families: He
likes c1a551ca1 music, long walks, loves ludes, he's Jewigh, he's an actor, he s

perfect.
VIV: Is he famous?
RITA: Not yet.:

VvIV: Danny Roth.

RITA: Yep. Man of La Mancha. He did it as a one man show. Oh, Viv, six weeks
and I'm already like solid. Feel them. Soon I'll be nothing but meals on heels.

VIV: Does he want to have a baby?

.‘RITA: I héven't told him vet.  But, Viv, I'm so ready to démesticate.
VIV: But don't you ﬁhink you ehould tell him about it first? |
RITA: Oh my g-oh, Viv. Look at my schedule. Read it.

VvIV: "Day one, the art of your anaiysis." So?

RITA: Keep reading.

vIV: "2all students are reguired to bring in. a ufina sample to work with. We've
provided a specimen cup for your convenience." - So? )

RITA: So, they'll see it.
VIV: See what?
RITA: The baby! Don't you know anything about reproduction?

vIv: I know stuff.

10
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RITA: Look, if you're pregnant they can see it in your urine. Now how's that
gonna look, knocked up on. my first day of school. It's not right.

VIV: Rita, when are you going to tell this guy about the baby?

RITA: Look, you and me, we're suppoéed:ta'heip each' other, right? I need you to
do this for me, Viv. Please. I love you, Viv,

COI;iMERCIAL 16.24.25 TO 16.30.20

BEN: I'm sleeping

RICKY: Do —yé‘u like her?

BEN; ﬂho, Vivian?

RICKY: No, Doris. I think s‘he"s' weird. ’

BEN: She's not Weird,'she's_just-=she‘s normal. Now go back to sleep.
RiCKY: She's so old. She smells Eld.

BEN: Dad's old. . |

RICkY: He is noti Not like her.

) BEﬁ: Dad is a senior citizen.

RICKY: No he's mot.

BEN: He is 65 years old, Ricky. That's a senior citizenm. It's a mathematical
fact. Murray Samuel Bbromowitz is in the autumn of his life. AaAnd -

RICKY: Take it back.

BEN: What?!

“RICKY: Senior pitizen, Ben, take it.back.

BEN: Yéaﬁ, okay, okay I take i; back.

RICKY: The whole fhing;

BEN: Dad is not a senior citizen, all right? Will you get off me now?
RICKY: Ben? Can I sleep in your bed tonight? ‘

BEN: Okay, fine. But hey, listen, listen, no funny business tonight. None!
I'm serious. : :

RICKY: Oh, P.U. ‘It stinks under here.
BEN: I've got gas. If you don't like it, leave.

" RICKY: I can handle it.

11
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{scene change)

VIV: Dad, what time ié it? Are we moving? I gotta pack, are we moving?
MURRAY: No, no, no, we're not moving.

VIﬁ; Thank God, I;m.exhausted.

MURRAY:. No, we're staying here for a long time. We ge% to sﬁay put as long as
she's okay. I like it here. : - .o

VIV: Yeah.
MURRAY ; Best place we've been.

VIV: Yep.

MURRAY: DPlace to be proud of, not ashamed or embarrassed. We got the towels,
~we got the furniture. ' _

VIV: What are you getting at, Dad?

MURRARY: I'm taking off with Deoris, but just for toniéht; TG kind of make it up
to hexr. She laughs at my jokes. You know how that makes a .man feel at my age?

ViV; fou‘re not old.

MURRAY: No, no, no, no, I'mjlike a horse, I'm like a rock.
VIV: Yeé you are.

MURRAY : Tége a poke, go on.

ViV: Like a.chse.

MUﬁRAY:-,Give me é hit,

VIV: Okay-

MURRAY: Go on. I'm in the best shape of my life. Keep an eye on sleeping
beauty over there, okay. Make sure she gets to school tomorrow. It's hexr first
day. Make sure she gets there and gets back. Keep her out of trouble, all right?
How about an Eskimo kiss? You too old for that? ' : : .

VIV: Hm, mm.

MURRAY: There's food money on the table. Good night.

(scene change)

VIV: ‘'Warning: this should not be used over swollen or inflamed tissue. 3If
swelling occurs, consult a physician.”

(scene change)

TV: {music)
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(knock on door)
_BEN: Entrel
ELLIOT: Héy, is Vivian aroqnd?
BEN: Hey! Aronson. You know, you;re just thé mari I-was looking for. Come on in,
héve'a geat. Do you want some Trix? There you go. Tell we when. Is that good?
Listen, do you got any of the weed on you?
ELLIOT:-Yeah, I've a;ways got preoduct.
BEN: Okay, éo, uh, how aboqt some Bamples.
ELLIOT: I .can't just give if away. It's business...
BEN: Hey, am I charging you for the Trix here? |
. . . - .

ELLIOT; The Trix was an offering, n¢o strings attached.

‘BEN: This is not about the Trix, Elliot. Trix are for kids, right? It's the
principle I'm talking about. ‘ ’

ELLIOT: What principle?.

BEN: You're a salesman. I'm a potential customer. I'm just asking for a sample
of your merchandise. Nothing big, a toke. Make a case out of it.

ELLIOT: No, product is product. It costs money.

BEN: ngl,‘i've got. money Elliét, that's not the point.

RICKY:‘ Hey! That's.our'food money !

BENf'ShuE up and get my bong. Okay, so, uh, how mucﬁ for like a 2—finger.bag?
ELLIOT: Uh, 20 bucks.

BEN: Tell you what, I'll let'you have my sister if you give me a break, huh?

(scene change)’

(music, radiec in the background, Vivian dancing. taking laundry out of the dryer)

RACHEL: I'm sorry, I didn't mean to écare,you.

VIV: Oh no you didn't. Just, uh...

RACHEL: We live above you;.My name is Rachel Hoffman, this is my sister Brooke.
VIV: Hi. '

BROOkE:- Rach, she's scary.

VIivV: I'm sorry.
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RACEEL: Deviated septum, - sometimes it got so bad T couldn't even breathe, g0
while they were at it, they got rid of Daddy's bump.

viv: It looks good.

RACHEL;: You could gét yours fixed. My doctor's the best in the business. ﬁere

{nands her a business card}, hé's been on TV, he does evervybody. They call ‘him
the Michealangelo of Beverly Hills. He did my mother

VIV: Your mom had her nose done too?
RACHEL: Yep. And her breasts.

VIV: Really? Silicone?

RACHEL: Nope. Reduced. Mom said they gave her a lot of trouble. Béqk.pain.

MOTHER {from outside): Rachi Brooke! C'mon girls.
RACHEL: Well, she said big breasts are retardaire.
VIV:. What?

RACHEL: Retardaire, passé&. They made her look.cheap.

MOTHER (from outside): I need some help with these.

BROOKE: C'mon!

RACHEL: Well...bye.

MOTHER: Who were you talking to in there?
RACHEL: Just some new girl..

MOTHER: Can you help me with these? C'mon, we've got a lot to do.

{(scene change)
VIV: Hey guys, what's going on.

RICKY. Dad's gone and Ben's spending our food money on dopet!

VIV: Ben!

BEN: Will you put somethlng on? You know, we're all eating here, you're making
us sick! : ‘ ' : ' :

VIV: You can't do that.

BEN: Who made you the treasurer? I am the eldest. DNow -_gbod night wi padre -
I've got a bhig audition from the summer music up in Beverly. Guys and Dolls.
Now, your superb product is geing to help me land the role that I feel I deserve.

Sky Mastefson.

FLLIOT. O©Oh, Brandc played that in the movie.
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BEN. That's right.

RICKY: - Last time it was Godspell.

vIV: That's stupid.
BEN: What was so stupid about it Vivian?
YIV: It was a stupid hippie leotard show.

BEN: Well, at least I'm trying to improve myself. What about you?

VIv: I'm improving.
1

RITA: Viv?

VvIV: Coming.

_gEﬁ; I'm proud of my manhood. 1, 2, 3, 4...(sings) Luck be a lady tonight. Luck
be a lady tonight. Iuck if you've ever been a lady to begin with, luck be a '

lady tonight.

{scene change) .

ELLIOT: Now what?

RITA: Make a right. Not heie, thexe.

ELLIOT: Wﬁere?

RITA: There, after the driveway. fuxn right here! furn right here!

ELLIOT: .Hey, will you'hold onto that, it's a Cadillac. Give me the paper. All
right, we're close. T know this neighborhood. I do a lot of business up here.

RITA: Really? What do you do?

VIV: He deals drugs.

ELLIOT: Vivian, would you mind not going around misrepresenting me like that?

Geez. I don't want anyone to get the idea like I'm some kind of schoolyard

pushover.

RITA: Oh, I don‘t mind. In fact, do you have anything for my nerves? You know,
just laying around? Seconal, demoral, terminal, wvalium,  qualud, percoset?

VIV: Rita!

ELLIOT: Nokt my merchandise. 1T deal exclusively in pot. That's the street,

right down the hill.
RITA: Okay, stop the car.
ELLIOT: What?

RITA: Stop!!
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Viv: Why did we stop?
RITA: I'm gonna walk. I want to surprise him.
VIV: He Goesn't know you're coming?-

RITA Not exactly I said I was go;ng to drop by sometlme, but 1 dldn't say when.
He's gonna freak when he sees me in this outfit. .

VIV: You're gonna tell him, right? i

RITA: You can't just Eell a guy you're pregnant.
VIV- Why not?

ELLIOT: You're pregnant7

RITA: Look at hlm ‘Men freeze up, they go into shock. You gotté 1ay'thé
groundwork first. Break down their natural resistance, reestablish the passion.

That's what this v151t is all about.
VIV: How long is it" 901ng to take to do that?

RITA: Not long.

VIV: 'cause we only got 15 minutes, 20 minutes max. You're not going to make
it to school on time. . .

RITA: Don't worry, Viv. I'm a grownup. I've got it all under control.
(masic playing) (Elliot singing along with the radio, Vivian turns it off.}
ELLIOT: Hey, that was a good song.

VIV: How long has she been in there?'

ELLIOT: If she comes out in the next 10 minutes, we'll still be able to make it.
Just relax. Take in the sights. .

VIV: What‘sights. I - I only see bughgs.
ELLIOT: See that?

VIV: What?

ELLIOT: That - that héuse ovex the?e?
VIV: Yeah, so what?

ELLIOT: You know what street that is®?
vVIV: No.

ELLIOT: Cielo Drive.
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VIV: Is this supposed to be interesting? It's like, I-I'm under a lot of
precsure right now. :

ELLIOT: Does *"political piggy" right a bell?

VIV: -What? | |
'ELLIOT: Sharon Tate, Valley of the Dolls, Polanksi?
VvIV: Elliot? You're bugging me.

ELLiOT:' That's the house right there, August 9, 1969. Open the élove
compartment.

VIV: No,vlet‘s get out of here, let'é pick her up.

ELLIOT:.C'mere, just look at this. Look at this. I want to show you this. This
guy's gonna be up for parole, man. Check it out. Seven counts of first degree

murder, Spawn Ranch.. .

VIV: C'men. Just st&p it all‘right?

ELLIOT: Revelation knowledge-

VIV: This is creepy, let's get '-

ELLIOT: The maid-

VIV; Let's get out of hexe.

ELLIOT: The maid discovered thg‘bédies.

viv: All right, look, I'm leaving. I'm getting Rita.
ELLIO&: Hold on, come back. I'll drive you.
VIV: Yeah, I'll hitch. '
ELLIOT: I wanna, I just wanted to show you -

VIV; ¥o you didn't. " You're just trying to scare me so I'll throw wmyself into
your perverted arms. vou're sick! Charles Manson is sick.

ELLIOT: This isn't sick, Vivian! This is history. You know what that means?
It's a bock, I didn't make it up. Our histories, Vivian, yours and mine, so

grow up!
COMMERCIAL BREARK 16.42.22 to 16.46

VIV: Hellc? A&h...oh.
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